IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2010-CA-00274

ROUNDSTONE DEVELOPMENT, LLC

APPELLANT

V.

THE CITY OF NATCHEZ, MS, AND THE
MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN
OF NATCHEZ, MS

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Of Counsel:

Dale Danks, Jr. (MSB No. [REDACTED])
Michael V. Cory, Jr. (MSB No. [REDACTED])
DANKS, MILLER & CORY
Post Office Box 1759
Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1759
Telephone: (601) 957-3101
Facsimile: (601) 957-3160

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was the refusal by the City of Natchez to approve the site and subdivision plan for the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, unreasonable, not fairly debatable and/or unsupported by substantial evidence?
2. Was the refusal requirement by the City of Natchez to approve the site plan and subdivision plat until the land was first re-zoned arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, and/or unreasonable?
3. Was the denial of request for re-zoning by the City of Natchez arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, unreasonable, not fairly debatable, not supported by the substantial evidence and/or the equivalent of an improper taking?
4. Were the actions of the City of Natchez motivated by an improper discriminatory intent?
5. Did the circuit court commit reversible error when it denied the Appellant's Motions To Strike and For Judgment on the Pleadings which were filed in response to the failure by the City of Natchez to timely file its Brief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an improper denial by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Natchez, Mississippi, and its Planning Commission (collectively referred to hereafter as the "City of Natchez") of requests for site plan and subdivision plat approval as well as requests for re-zoning. In this case, the actions of the City of Natchez were grossly arbitrary and capricious. As a result, the Appellant, Roundstone Development, LLC ("Roundstone"), has been denied the lawful use of its property.

Roundstone first appealed the wrongful and illegal actions of the City of Natchez to the Circuit Court of Adams County. When the Circuit Court of Adams County affirmed the actions of the City of Natchez without explanation in a one page order dated June 17, 2010, Roundstone timely perfected this appeal. [R p. 496; RE p. 0082].

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Audubon Terrace was a proposed residential subdivision consisting of 65 high quality single-family homes to be located on the north side of Old Washington Road at Lafayette Street in Natchez, Mississippi. The subdivision included, among other things, a community center, recreational facilities, and swimming pool. [R pp. 205-207; RE pp. 0028-0030].

2. The proposed Audubon Terrace subdivision was to be financed in part through a tax credit program administered through the Mississippi Home Corporation (“MHC”). The MHC was established by the Legislature following a report in 1988 from a statewide Housing Task Force that had recommended that the State create a hub agency for housing. The MHC is specifically charged with working to provide safe, decent and affordable housing to all Mississippians. [R pp. 212-214, 212-219, 267- 271, 292-300; RE pp. 0031-0033, 0031-0038, 0039-0043, 0045-0053].

3. The MHC requires that all homes it supports through tax credits be attractive high quality homes that fit in well in the surrounding area. To ensure that the developments are properly maintained, and remain a vibrant and attractive part of the surrounding neighborhood, the MHC periodically performs site inspections. The MHC also retains the authority to fine developers in order to ensure that the each development is properly maintained. [R pp. 191, 212-214, 212-219, 267- 271, 292-300, 328; RE pp. 0031-0033, 0031-0038, 0039-0043, 0045-0053, 0059]. The MHC also requires its developers to provide services such as budget counseling, classes on the

responsibilities of home ownership, and credit counseling to residents in order to prepare them for purchasing their homes.

4. The specific MHC program that Audubon Terrace was to be built under provided for a lease-purchase development where the homes would be leased to the prospective homeowner for a period of 15 years. At the end of this 15 year period, the residents would have the opportunity to purchase their home outright at a discounted price. [R p. 268; RE p. 0040].

5. Roundstone has successfully developed and leased similar tax credit developments in Carthage, Greenwood, Greenville, Indianola, Gautier, Yazoo City and Cleveland. Under the supervision of the MHC, numerous other developers have successfully constructed these type of tax credit developments and provided thousands of high quality affordable houses throughout the State. [R pp. 267-272, 293, 295,301-302; RE pp. 0039-0044, 0046, 0048, 0054-0055]

6. The City of Natchez has a long recognized need for quality affordable housing. [R pp. 169, 177, 194-195, 324, 331, 334; RE pp. 0018, 0022, 0058, 0062, 0065].

7. Part of the land where the proposed Audubon Terrace subdivision was to be built was zoned O-L (Open Land), and part of the land was zoned R-1 (Single Family Residential). The O-L classification is a somewhat unique and infrequently seen zoning classification. *Adams v. Mayor and Board of Aldermen of City of Natchez*, 964 So.2d 629, 631 (Miss. App. 2007)(explaining that Open Land classification is essentially a “stop-gap measure to provide parameters for seldom used properties until a final land use determination is made”). O-L zoned land consists mainly of unsubdivided lands but expressly permits single family dwellings as a matter of right. [R pp. 383-390; RE pp. 0068-0075]. The O-L zoning classification is specifically designed to protect the establishment of scattered uses that are unrelated to any general plan of development.

8. With respect to the O-L classification, the City of Natchez's zoning ordinance specifically states that "[i]t is intended that land in these districts will be reclassified to its appropriate residential, commercial, and industrial category . . . whenever such land is subdivided into urban building sites." [R p. 383; RE p. 0068]. Because the zoning ordinance does not require a re-zoning before the land is subdivided, the City of Natchez had previously allowed subdivisions to be developed in land zoned O-L without first requiring that the land be re-zoned. [R pp. 307, 388-390; RE pp. 0056, 0073-0075].

9. Before Roundstone made the decision to purchase the site for the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision, Roundstone and its lender were provided with three different letters from the City of Natchez which confirmed that the location of the subdivision was properly zoned for the anticipated use, and that "there are no violations of zoning law, or non-conforming uses and the Project is in compliance with all applicable zoning laws, ordinances and regulations (including, without limitation, all those establishing or relating to parking requirements)." [R pp. 108, 113, 114; RE pp. 0003, 0004, 0005]. These letters not only demonstrate conclusively that the proposed subdivision complied with all City of Natchez requirements, but also that the proposed subdivision was effectively torpedoed through the subsequent improper, arbitrary and illegal considerations and actions of the City of Natchez.

10. At no point in any hearing proceeding did the City of Natchez that the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision did not meet the City of Natchez's development requirements; or that it was consistent with the City's adopted Comprehensive Plan. Nevertheless, the City of Natchez and its Planning Commission improperly delayed the development for as long as possible before ultimately blocking it completely.

11. After Roundstone moved forward with its purchase of the land for the proposed subdivision, Roundstone appeared before the Site Plan Review Committee on September 12, 2007. During this meeting, the Site Plan Review Committee approved the Audubon Terrace site plan and subdivision plat. [R pp. 119-120; RE pp. 0006-0007].

12. Eight days later on September 20, 2007, Roundstone appeared at the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting seeking formal approval of the site plan and subdivision plat. At this meeting, the Planning Commission declined to follow the recommendation of its Site Plan Review Committee. Instead of approving the site plan and subdivision plat, the Planning Commission intentionally and arbitrarily delayed the development stating that the land had to re-zoned to R-1 before the site plan and subdivision plat would be approved. [R pp. 140-141; RE pp. 0015-0016].

13. The Planning Commission's action in demanding a re-zoning was directly contrary to the existing zoning ordinance. Not only was there no requirement that O-L zoned land be re-zoned before site plan and subdivision plat approval, the City of Natchez's ordinance expressly states that it is intended that the land is to be re-zoned only after it is subdivided into its appropriate use. [R p. 383; RE p. 0068].

14. The Planning Commission also imposed this arbitrary re-zoning hurdle despite the fact that there were four areas in the community with mixed zoning classifications no different than Audubon Terrace and despite the fact that single family subdivisions were permitted by right on land zoned O-L. [R p. 389; RE p. 0074]. Furthermore, the action was illegal, arbitrary and capricious because the Planning Commission was specifically relying on an alleged requirement in a draft version of a proposed, but not yet adopted, New Development Code for the City of Natchez. [R pp.

307, 334 RE pp. 0056, 0065].¹

15. Also at this September 20, 2007 meeting the Planning Commission attempted to unnecessarily delay the subdivision by requiring a traffic study despite the fact a traffic study was not necessary for approval of a site plan and subdivision plat, and despite the fact that the City Engineer had previously reviewed the site and subdivision plan and determined that the proposed development would not have a negative impact on traffic. [R p. 132; RE p. 0014]. The Planning and Engineering department subsequently studied the traffic situation and issued a written report on October 17, 2007 finding that there would be no significant increased traffic problem. [R pp. 329, 342-343; RE pp. 0060, 0066-0067].

16. The records and transcripts from the September 20, 2007, meeting of the Planning Commission show that there was no lawful or legitimate basis for the actions taken. Members of the Planning Commission admitted that “the project is a very good project . . .” [R p. 123; RE p. 0008]. Despite the acknowledged need for affordable housing in Adams County, the only reason for opposing the subdivision was the erroneous perception that it was nothing but “a glorified HUD Project” that would bring in an undesirable class of people. [R pp. 129-131; RE pp. 0009-0010]. None of the reasons stated in opposition to the subdivision provided a proper or legal basis for refusing to approve the site plan and subdivision plat and requiring an unnecessary re-zoning.

17. The fact that the imposition of this re-zoning requirement was nothing more than a ruse to delay and block the development altogether became apparent when Roundstone appeared before the City Planning Commission on November 15, 2007 asking to re-zone the O-L portion of the site

¹Tellingly, one City of Natchez Alderman later stated that if the Planning Commission had not acted to table the request to approve the subdivision site and plat plan, the re-zoning request would have been approved. [R p. 308; RE p. 0057].

to R-1. As with the previous request for site plan and subdivision plat approval, the re-zoning request fully complied with all requirements. Despite this undisputed fact, the Planning Commission denied the request to re-zone the O-L land to R-1, and again tabled the application for site plan and subdivision plat approval. [R p. 398; RE p. 0076].

18. There are many fatal problems with denial of the re-zoning request by the Planning Commission. The surrounding area was already residential in nature and consisted primarily of R-1 zoned land. There was also no argument by anyone that the proper zoning classification for the land was anything other than R-1. Given the existing character and use of the surrounding area, as a practical matter there was no way to credibly argue anything to the contrary. Despite these facts, the re-zoning request was still denied.

19. As with the September 20, 2007, meeting, the record from the November 15, 2007 meeting tells the real motives underlying the improper and capricious actions taken by the Planning Commission. At this meeting the members of the Planning Commission again acknowledged that “the project is a good project; the houses are okay . . . I understand it meets all of the obligations.” [R pp. 178-179; RE pp. 0023-0024]. The real reason again was the misplaced stereotype that this would be a “low income area” and that “with their income and the peoples coming in that area, we gonna have more problem than what we have now.” [R p. 174, 175, 178; RE pp. 0019, 0020, 0023]. None of these reasons are appropriate, and none of the reasons put forth in opposition to the development provide a lawful basis for the recommendation made by the Planning Commission.

20. In response to the concerns expressed at the hearing on September 20, 2007, the City of Natchez’s Land Use Planner explained that this type of subdivision “doesn’t have a detrimental effect on neighborhoods.” [R pp. 176-178; RE pp. 0021-0023]. He also explained that it was the

goal of the Natchez Comprehensive Housing Plan to provide “affordable single family detached housing through the city’s development regulations.” [R pp. 176-178; RE pp. 0021-0023]. He also correctly explained the applicable legal standard when he said that the Planning Commission operates “strictly by code” and that they could either “uphold the code, or you can choose to ignore the code . . . [b]ut there is no leeway.” [R pp. 177-178; RE pp. 0022-0023].

21. On February 26, 2008, Roundstone appeared before the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of Natchez, MS, appealing the wrongful actions and inaction the Natchez Planning Commission. At this meeting, Roundstone requested: (1) Approval of the site plan and subdivision plat for the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision; and, (2) that should re-zoning be a prerequisite to approval of the site plan and subdivision plat, that the City of Natchez reverse the decision of the Natchez Planning Commission and approve the proposed re-zoning to R-1. [R pp. 188-189; RE pp. 0026-0027]. However, Motion was made by Alderman West to uphold the decision by the Natchez Planning Commission to deny the request for re-zoning and for site plan approval. [R pp. 333-334; RE pp. 0064-0065].

22. As with the previous appearances before the City of Natchez, the record shows that no legitimate or lawful reason was given in support of the actions ultimately taken by the City of Natchez. The need for affordable housing in Natchez was again discussed as was the fact that the proposed subdivision would be of an equal or higher quality than the houses and apartments in the surrounding area. [R p. 331; RE p. 0062]. The Land Use Planner specifically explained that the census tracts showed that the people living in the area of the proposed Audubon Terrace subdivision were actually at a lower socioeconomic level than the requirements for residents in the proposed development. [R p. 389; RE p. 0074]. One Alderman who also acknowledged that the proposed

subdivision was a “good proposal”, went on to frivolously object based on the claim that the subdivision was going to be built on a chemical dump site which would cause the African American Community to be poisoned and could cause cancer. [R p. 332; RE p. 0063]. However, there was nothing provided to support such an outlandish claim. Again, and as with each of the prior hearings, the City of Natchez did not state any legally valid reason either in support of its decision to deny the re-zoning or in support of its decision to deny site plan and subdivision plat approval.

23. The actions by the City of Natchez from September 20, 2007 to February 26, 2008, show a deliberate disregard for the existing ordinances, the existing land use plan, prior practice, and for long established and fundamental property rights under the Mississippi Constitution and the Constitution of the United States of America. The actions by the Planning Commission and the Mayor and Board of Aldermen effectively trampled the rights of the property owner in this case. Furthermore, the actions were plainly arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, unsupported by substantial evidence, not fairly debatable and amounted to an improper and illegal taking.

24. Roundstone timely commenced this Appeal from the decision by the City of Natchez to deny the re-zoning request and to deny the request for site plan and subdivision plat approval. [R pp. 1-2; RE p. 0001-0002].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no legal basis for the City of Natchez’s refusal to approve the Audubon Terrace site plan and subdivision plat. There is no dispute that the site plan and subdivision plat met or exceeded all of the requirements of the City of Natchez. The plan was described by City officials as “a very good plan.” [R p. 163; RE p. 0017]. The Land Use Planner specifically stated that “I don’t see any problem with it on a code basis.” [R p. 180; RE p. 0025]. Nevertheless, the City of

Natchez arbitrarily and capriciously refused to approve the site plan and subdivision plat without specifically stating or providing any lawful reason for doing so.

The City of Natchez had no legally valid basis for imposing a re-zoning requirement on the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision. The only reason given for imposing this requirement under the circumstances was the City of Natchez's purported reliance on a draft version of an as yet unadopted New Development Code. The fact that no re-zoning was legally required is further demonstrated by the letter from the City of Natchez dated May 16, 2007. [R pp. 108, 113, 114; RE pp. 0003, 0004, 0005]. This letter specifically stated that the proposed subdivision was appropriate under the existing zoning ordinance. This letter also confirmed that "there are no other requirements which must be satisfied in order for the project to fully comply with applicable zoning and subdivision laws, ordinances, regulation and parking requirements." Simply imposing this requirement under these circumstances was arbitrary and capricious.

Not only did the City of Natchez intentionally and wrongfully refuse to approve the site plan and subdivision plat, and intentionally and wrongfully impose a special re-zoning requirement on Roundstone, the City of Natchez and its Planning Commission then wrongfully denied the re-zoning request. There is no dispute that the area surrounding the proposed Audubon Terrace Subdivision was residential in nature. There is no question that residential development was the only appropriate use of the subject land. Despite these facts the City of Natchez refused to re-zone the property. This decision was not based on any articulated finding that the site was suited for anything other than residential development.

Finally, the actions by the Planning Commission and the City of Natchez were based on improper and illegal stereotypes concerning class and race. Accordingly, the actions by the City of

Natchez were in violation of Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended, which specifically prohibits discrimination in the sale, rental, and financing of dwellings, based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, and family status.

For all of these reasons, this Court must reverse and render the decision by the City of Natchez to deny the re-zoning request and to deny the request for site plan and subdivision plat approval.

ARGUMENT

A. APPLICABLE LAW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

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