IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00274

THE CITY OF NATCHEZ, MS. AND THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF NATCHEZ, MS	APPELLEES
V.	
ROUNDSTONE DEVELOPMENT, LLC	APPELLANT

Submitted by:

EVERETT T. SANDERS, (MSP SANDERS LAW FIRM Post Office Box 565 Natchez, Mississippi 39120 Telephone:(601) 445-5570 Facsimile:(601) 445-0777

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that this Court may evaluated possible disqualifications or recusal:

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

Drews v. City of Hattiesburg, 904 So.2d 138, 140(¶5) (Miss.2005).

B/C THE CITY OF NATCHEZ AND THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S DECISIONS TO DELAY APPROVAL OF APPELLANTS SITE PLAN AND SUBDIVISION APPLICATIONS SUBJECT TO ACTING ON APPELLANT'S REZONING APPLICATION WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, ILLEGAL NOR UNSUPPORT BY THE EVIDENCES

The issues raised by Appellant in arguments A and B are factually related and both claim that the Appellees acted arbitrarily, capriciously, illegally and without substantial evidentiary support. Therefore, Appellees are going to address both issues in one argument.

Appellant contends that Planning Commission had no lawful authority to review their applications for site approval and for subdivision of the property. Appellant suggests that the Planning Commission review was ministerial and limited to rubber stamping the approval of the applications. However, Appellants offer no legal authority for this position.

Also, it is rather ostensible that Appellant feels that it is not required to seek reclassification of that portion of its property which is zoned O-L (Open Land) in order to develop its' proposed subdivision. Theses positions fly in the face of the obvious dictate of the Zoning Ordinances and Subdivision Regulations of the City of Natchez.

Appellant erroneously argues that land zoned in part O-L or Open Land and in part R-1 or "Single Family residential" are permitted uses by right and do not require a zoning action.

The charter of uses permitted indicates, inter alia:

- (1) Uses by right. The uses listed are permitted subject to the conditions specified.
- (2) Uses requiring planning approval. The uses listed are permitted upon approval of the location and site plan thereof by the planning commission as being appropriate with regard to transportation and access, water supply, waste disposal, fire and police protection, and other public facilities, as not causing undue traffic congestion or creating a traffic hazard, and as being in harmony with the orderly and appropriate development of the district in which the use is located (See Appendix B)

The relevant parts of the City of Natchez Zoning Ordinances provide the following: Section IV. Residential Districts provides in relevant part as follows:

1. O-L districts: Open-land districts. These districts are composed mainly of unsubdivided lands that are vacant or in agricultural or forestry uses, with some dwellings and some accessory uses. The regulations are designed to protect the essentially open character of the districts by prohibiting the establishment of scattered uses that are unrelated to any general plan of development and that might inhibit the best future urban utilization of the land. It is intended that land in these districts will be reclassified to its appropriate residential, commercial, and industrial category in accordance with

amendment procedure set forth herein whenever such land is subdivided into urban building sites.

Section XV. Amendments provides the following:

Amendment Policy

- 1. Reason for amendment. This ordinance, including the zoning map, is based on comprehensive planning studies and is intended to carry out the objective of a sound, stable and desirable development. It is recognized that casual change or amendment of the ordinance would be detrimental to the achievement of that objective, and it is therefore declared to be the public policy to amend this ordinance only when one or more of the following conditions prevail:
 - a. Error. There is a manifest error in the ordinance;
 - b. Change in conditions. Changed or changing conditions in a particular area, or in the metropolitan area generally, make a change in the ordinance necessary and desirable;
 - c. Increase in need for sites for business or industry. Increased or increasing needs for business or industrial sites, in addition to sites that are available, make it necessary and desirable to rezone an area or to extend the boundaries of an existing district;
 - d. Subdivision of land. The subdivision or imminent subdivision of open land into urban building sites makes reclassification necessary and desirable. (See Appendix A)

It is clear that Open Land can be reclassified prior to the actual subdividing of the property. The words "imminent subdivision" would suggest that rezoning prior to reclassification is acceptable. In fact, prior reclassification would be seemingly preferable. It would serve as a buffer against a needless expenditure of funds only to have the project derailed by a zoning issue.

So, it is difficult to appreciate the merit of Appellant's position regarding the need for approval of its Site Plan and Subdivision plans since there is an overriding zoning issue at hand. Once the zoning issue is put to rest, Appellant will have a clear view of where its' project is headed.

Appellant somehow attempts to argue that the City is irrevocably linked to a piece of correspondence authored by Mr. Huston wherein he erroneously indicated that all the property involved in the Audubon Terrace development was zoned R-1 as opposed to being mixed and containing some Open Land. Notwithstanding any representations to the contrary, it is clear that City of Natchez's "Zoning Ordinance and Regulations" require that Open Land be reclassified.

Mr. Huston's letter did not serve to amend or change this requirement. Appellant became aware of this mistake less than three (3) months after the date of the correspondence and certainly before Appellant submitted its' Subdivision Application. The application indicated that the land was zoned R-1 and O-L. Presumably, Mr. Smith, appellant's representative, was aware of the land's classification since he is a former City Planner.

Appellant alleges that Appellees have not required other projects to be rezoned from O-L prior to permitting development and, therefore, it was arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory and illegal to impose such a requirement on it.³ In spite of Appellant's allegations, it offered no substantive evidence to support its' contention. The record is conspicuously devoid of any evidence as to show the actual practice of Appellees with respect to projects seeking to locate on

³The Court should take judicial notice that this contention if refuted by the case of *Adams* v. *Mayor of City*, 964 So.2d 629 (MS2007) which involved a zoning issue relating to the City of Natchez. The Court of Appeals found in *Adams* as a matter of a fact that "Appellants, a group of residents living near the property that is the subject of this zoning dispute, appeal the trial court's decision to uphold the action of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Natchez to rezone a parcel of real property from O-L (Open Land) to B-2 (General Business) so that the purchaser, James D. Gammill, II could relocate his business, Fat Mama's Tamales."

Open Land. It is only through looking at the recent history of how Appellees have dealt with zoning can the Court discern whether there exists a pattern that would support Appellant's allegations. The City of Natchez has been for the last 12 years rezoning property before approving site plan and division applications. (R 181 Tr.P 94 L7-11)

Even if you assume arguendo that developments exist on Open Lands which have not been reclassified, there is no evidence in the record offered by Appellant that would indicate when these developments occurred or how they occurred. There could be a rational explanation as to why such a variance exists. For example, the development could have been grand fathered,⁴ or, the product of annexation, or, separately constructed homes by individuals over a period of time which resulted in a de facto subdivisions whose classification has not changed or perhaps occurred prior to the enactment of the zoning ordinances.⁵

An allegation that a zoning decision is arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory or illegal does not raise a presumption of truthfulness as to the assertion. On the contrary, the party making the allegation has the burden of proof. In *Childs v Hancock County Board of Supervisors* 1 So.3d 855, the Supreme Courted stated, *inter alia*:

When contesting a rezoning classification, the burden of proof is on "the individual or other entity asserting its invalidity." Faircloth, 592 So.2d at 943. This Court has held,

[A] Il presumptions must be indulged in favor of the validity of zoning ordinances. It is presumed to be reasonable and for the public good. It is presumed that the legislative body investigated it and found conditions such that the action which it

⁴Mrs. Martin, Chairman of the Planning Commission indicated the subdivisions were grandfathered. (R 47)

⁵Mrs. Mary Toes indicated that College Heights was brought into the City in the 40's or the 50's (R.131). The zoning ordinances were adopted in 1963.

took was appropriate. The one assailing the validity has the burden of proof to establish that the ordinance is invalid or arbitrary or unreasonable as to his property, and this must be by clear and convincing evidence.

Ballard v. Smith, 234 Miss. 531, 546-547, 107 So.2d 580 (Miss. 1958) (citing W.L. Holcomb, Inc. v. City of Clarksdale, 217 Miss. 892, 65 So.2d 281 (1953) (emphasis added)

It is evident that Appellant has completely failed to satisfy its burden of establishing that the City of Natchez's actions in connection with the re-zoning of this property was in any respect arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory and illegal and therefore the appeal should be denied.

D. THE ACTION OF THE CITY OF NATCHEZ AND THE PLANNING COMMISSION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REZONING REQUEST WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, DISCRIMINATORY, ILLEGAL NOR UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

Appellant in this matter appealed the Planning Commission's decision to deny its rezoning application and/or recommend to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen to deny such application. Although the Appellants attempted to appeal the decision of the Planning Commission to not act on its' applications for site plan approval and division of the property, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen vote unanimously to uphold the action of the Planning Commission.

The Mayor and Board of Aldermen and the Planning Commission conducted hearings and considered the positions articulated by Appellant's representatives as well as the residents that opposed the reclassification. Appellees gave value to the Appellant's position that its' proposed development would provide housing for residents with low to moderate incomes as well as an opportunity for home ownership. Appellees gave equal consideration to residents

living near the proposed development and their representatives who filed petitions and voiced opposition to the development. They expressed concerns that the development will result in a concentration of low income tenants, forced residential segregation, an increase in crime, a decrease in property values, and a high volume of traffic among other things. There was only one area resident that spoke in favor of the development. (R.130, 131,132)

The appellate Courts have recognized the importance of citizens' comments in zoning matters. In City of Jackson v. Aldridge, 487 So.2d 1345, 1347 (Miss.1986) the Supreme Court stated:

" In Board of Alderman of Town of Bay Springs v. Jenkins, 423 So.2d 1323 (Miss. 1982) the court further emphasized the unique role of city officials in rezoning decisions:

In rendering the municipal order, the Mayor and Board of Alderman were authorized to consider the statements expressed by all the landowners at the hearing, as well as to call upon their own common knowledge and experience in their town. It is manifest that the Mayor and Board took into consideration all statements, both sworn and unsworn, and their common knowledge and familiarity about their small community, in reaching their decision. We believe this method to be sound and practical, and courts should respect such findings unless they are arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable.

423 So.2d at 1327-1328."

In addressing the value of public comments in zoning matters, the Court of Appeals in *Mayor and Board of Aldermen v. Estate of Lewis*, 963 So.2d 1210, 1216 (Miss.2007) said, among other things, the following:

When assessing the weight that may be given to public opposition to a petition for rezoning, we look for guidance from the Mississippi Supreme Court. In the case of *Mayor & Commissioners of Jackson v. Wheatley Place, Inc.*, 468 So.2d 81, 83 (Miss.1985), our supreme court held that substantial weight could be given to the concerns of its citizenry in determining whether a public need exists for rezoning. The court stated:

It should also be borne in mind, however, that while a duly enacted comprehensive zoning ordinance is not a true protective covenants agreement, it bears some analogy.

Purchasers of small tracts of land invest a substantial portion of their entire lifetime earnings, relying upon a zoning ordinance. Without the assurance of the zoning ordinance, such investments would not be made. On this small area they build their homes, where they expect to spend the most peaceful, restful and enjoyable hours of the day.

Zoning ordinances curb the exodus of city workers to a lot in the distant countryside. Indeed, the protection of zoning ordinances in municipalities, as opposed to no zoning in most county areas, encourage the choice of a city lot rather than a country lot for a home in the first instance. Zoning ordinances make city property more attractive to the prudent investor.

In the absence of agreement between all interested parties, an amendment to a zoning ordinance is not meant to be easy. Otherwise, it would be a meaningless scrap of paper. As former Justice Robertson noted in *City of Jackson v. Wilson*, 195 So.2d 470 (Miss.[1966]), at 473:

Homeowners are the backbone of any community. They take pride in developing and maintaining attractive homes and yards, and anything that discourages this wholesome attitude on their part hurts the community.

Wheatley Place, 468 So.2d at 83. Undoubtedly, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen gave significant weight to the testimony of the concerned homeowners regarding the rezoning of the nearby Lewis-Parker property from the residential to the commercial classification. We cannot say that giving such weight to the homeowners' testimony regarding their opposition to a nearby rezoning is error.

The decisions of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen and the Planning Commission were based on substantial evidence. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the decisions were arbitrary, capricious, illegal or not supported by substantial evidence. The burden is on Appellant and it has failed to satisfy its burden.

E. APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT ANY ACTION ON THE PART OF THE CITY OF NATCHEZ WAS DISCRIMINATORY IN NATURE AND IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VIII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1968

Appellants allege that denying approval of the its' site plan and request for zoning and request for re-zoning constituted a denial on rights secured to it pursuant to Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. The Fair Housing Act does in fact protect certain classes of individuals from discrimination in the sale, rental and financing of homes.

Appellant has failed to establish that Appellees discriminated against it in any respect. Also, Appellant has failed to establish that if such discrimination took place that it was because of its race, color, national origin, religion, sex or family status. The failure to establish this should result in the denial of this claim.

Appellant's claim should also be denied because it did not raise this claim before the Mayor and Board of Aldermen and it is not contained in its Bill of Exceptions. Appellant sought to raise this claim for the first time in its appeal to the Court below. (R 62-72) Therefore, it should be procedurally barred.

F. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ROUNDSTONE'S MOTION TO STRIKE AND MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

Appellant argues that the Court below erred in permitting Appellees to file their brief and in denying Appellant Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. The decision of the Court below constituted exercised its discretion in this matter. In ruling on this matter, the Court stated, *inter alia*:

"All right. Let the record show that the respondent, the defendant, the City on this appeal could have been more diligent in filing its brief. It has now been filed. The Court is careful in reviewing the situation. This is a matter where the Court does have a great deal of discretion. The law does favor deciding matter on the merits without deciding them on procedural deficiencies...The Court is going to allow the appeal to proceed as a matter of discretion..." (R.14)

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